2004

Young Electric Sign Company v. State of Utah, Utah Department of Transportation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE APPELLATE COURT

Young Electric Sign Company (“YESCO”) appealed this matter to the Utah Court of Appeals under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(a) (LexisNexis 2002) because it was appealing from the district court’s review of informal adjudicative proceedings of the Utah Department of Transportation (“UDOT”). The Utah Court of Appeals entered an Order transferring the appeal to the Utah Supreme Court under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j) (LexisNexis 2002) on the ground that the appeal was taken from an order, judgment, or decree of a district court in a civil case. The Utah Supreme Court subsequently entered an Order transferring the appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(4) (LexisNexis 2002).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. ISSUES

The following issues are presented for review:

1) Whether the district court erred in defining the “point of gore” as that term is used in Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-502(19).

(2) Whether the district court erred in defining “point of widening” or the point of pavement widening as that term is used in Utah Code Ann. §§ 72-7-502(19) and/or 72-7-505(3)(c)(i).

3) Whether the district court properly applied the definition of an “interchange” as that term is used in Utah Code Ann. §§ 72-7-502(9) and 72-7-505(3)(c)(i).

4) Whether the district court erred in holding that UDOT properly denied YESCO's application for a permit to relocate its outdoor advertising sign.

B. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This is an appeal from a ruling on summary judgment. Each of the issues raised on appeal involves the proper interpretation of the Utah Outdoor Advertising Act, UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 72-7-501 to 516 (LexisNexis 2001 & Supp. 2003).

The appellate court reviews questions of statutory interpretation for correctness, affording no deference to the district court's legal conclusions. *R.A. McKell Excavating, Inc. v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 2004 UT 48, ¶7, 502 Utah Adv. Rep. 9. In the context of a summary judgment motion, the court employs a correctness standard and views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Id.*

Likewise, unless the legislature has granted discretion to an agency to interpret statutory language, the appellate court reviews the agency's construction of statutory provisions under a correction of error standard, granting the agency no deference. *Committee of Consumer Serv. v. Public Serv. Comm'n of Utah*, 2003 UT 29, ¶8, 75 P.3d 481. Where there is more than one permissible reading of the statute and no basis in the statutory language or legislative history to prefer one interpretation over the other, the agency's interpretation of statutory provisions is entitled to deference. *Ekshteyn v. Dept. of Workforce Services*, 2002 UT App 74,

¶10, 45 P.3d 173; *R.O.A. General, Inc. v. UDOT*, 966 P.2d 840, 843 (Utah 1998).

The appellate court should defer to an agency's interpretation of its own regulation only if it is a reasonable interpretation of the regulatory language, i.e., "only if the regulation 'is not free from doubt' and if the interpretation is 'reasonable' and 'sensibly conforms to the wording and purpose' of the regulation." *State of Utah v. Mooney*, 2004 UT 49, ¶24, 502 Utah Adv. Rep. 16 (citation omitted).

PRESERVATION OF ISSUES FOR APPEAL

Each of the issues set forth above was addressed at length in the parties' briefing on their cross motions for summary judgment and was central to the trial court's decision on those cross motions. *See* Ruling on Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and Ruling on Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment [R163-171], Young Electric Sign Company's Memorandum in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment [R35-57], UDOT's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and in Support of Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment [R61-109], Young Electric Sign Company's Reply Memorandum in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment [R125-141], and UDOT's Reply Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment [R148-156].

RELEVANT STATUTES AND REGULATIONS

The statutes and regulations whose interpretation is determinative of or of central importance to this appeal read, in relevant part, as follows. A complete copy of each is found in the Addendum at Tab A:

72-7-505. Sign size – Sign spacing – Location in outdoor advertising corridor – Limit on implementation.

* * * *

(3) Except as provided in Section 72-7-509:

* * * *

(c) (i) (A) Except under Subsection (3)(c)(ii), signs may not be located on an interstate highway or limited access highway on the primary system within 500 feet of an interchange, or intersection at grade, or rest area measured along the interstate highway or freeway from the sign to the nearest point of the beginning or ending of pavement widening at the exit from or entrance to the main-traveled way.

(B) Interchange and intersection distance limitations shall be measured separately for each direction of travel. A measurement for each direction of travel may not control or affect any other direction of travel.

* * * *

UTAH CODE ANN. § 72-7-505(3)(c)(i) (LexisNexis Supp. 2003).

72-7-502. Definitions.

* * * *

(9) “Interchange or intersection” means those areas and their approaches where traffic is channeled off or onto an interstate route, excluding the deceleration lanes, acceleration lanes, or feeder systems, from or to another federal, state, county, city, or other route.

* * * *

(19) “Point of widening” means the point of the gore or the point where the intersecting lane begins to parallel the other lanes of traffic, but the point of widening may never be greater than 2,640 feet from the center line of the intersecting highway of the interchange or intersection at grade.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 72-7-502 (LexisNexis Supp. 2003).

UTAH ADMIN. R. 933-2-3(2)

(2) “Acceleration and deceleration lanes” means speed change lanes created for the purpose of enabling a vehicle to increase or decrease its speed to merge into, or out of, traffic on the main-traveled way. As used in the Act, an acceleration or deceleration lane begins and ends at a point no closer than 500 feet from the nearest point of the beginning or ending of pavement widening at the exit from or entrance to the main-traveled way.

UTAH ADMIN R. 933-2-3(2) (LexisNexis 2004).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

YESCO submitted an application to UDOT to erect an outdoor advertising sign that would be located in excess of 3,000 feet north of the center of the intersection of I-15 and Antelope Drive in Clearfield, Utah. [R2, 19, 32, 39, 54] When UDOT, Region One, denied its application, YESCO sought informal agency review. [R2, 19] After holding the hearing, UDOT denied YESCO’s permit application. [R3, 20] Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-508(4) (LexisNexis 2001), YESCO filed a Complaint with the Second Judicial District Court of Davis County seeking *de novo* judicial review of UDOT’s decision. [R3, 20] On cross-motions for summary judgment, the district court sustained UDOT’s decision. [R163-171] This appeal followed. (A copy of the district court’s decision is attached in the Addendum at Tab B.)

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

In 1978, YESCO legally erected an outdoor advertising sign on premises leased from the owner of real property located in Clearfield, Utah. [R30, 37, 39, 53] In 2002, to accommodate its development plans for the property, the property owner required YESCO to move its sign to a new location on the northern end of the property. [R32, 39, 51-52] Accordingly, YESCO sought UDOT's approval to erect a new outdoor advertising sign, which would be located on the east side of I-15 at mile marker 336.18 (the "Sign"). [R2, 20, 62] YESCO's proposed Sign would be located in an industrial and commercial area or an unzoned industrial and commercial area. [R6, 21] The proposed Sign would be located

- in excess of 3,000 feet north of the center of the interchange of Antelope Drive and I-15,
- approximately 1,850 feet north of the point where the paving for the on-ramp of the traffic lane from Antelope Drive meets and begins to parallel the three northbound lanes of I-15, and
- 108 feet north of the point where the traffic lane from Antelope Drive completely merges into I-15.

[R32, 39, 41, 52, 54, 192 (p. 3)]

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Utah Outdoor Advertising Act (the "Act" or the "Outdoor Advertising Act") regulates the placement of outdoor advertising signs along Utah's interstate

corridors. Among other things, the Act recognizes the need to ensure that outdoor advertising in Utah continues as “a standardized medium of communication throughout the state so that it is preserved and can continue to provide general information in the specific interest of the traveling public safely and effectively.” UTAH CODE ANN. § 72-7-501(1) (LexisNexis 2001). The Act provides a statutory basis for the reasonable regulation of outdoor advertising, including the protection of private property rights. *Id.* § 72-7-501(2).

In keeping with those purposes, the Act allows the erection of outdoor advertising signs in commercial or industrial areas located along the interstate corridors. Recognizing the need to balance the various purposes of the Act, the statute regulates the placement of outdoor advertising signs by, among other things, prohibiting signs within 500 feet of an interchange (the “no-sign zone” or “sign-free zone”). UTAH CODE ANN. § 72-7-505(3)(c)(i). The 500-foot no-sign zone is measured from the proposed sign location to the “nearest point of the beginning or ending of pavement widening at the exit from or entrance to the main-traveled way.” *Id.*

Proper application of section 72-7-505(3)(c)(i) requires the Court first to determine the parameters of the interchange. Once the Court establishes those parameters, it can determine whether a proposed outdoor advertising sign falls within 500 feet of the interchange, as measured from the proposed sign.

Defining the interchange turns on the interplay among various statutory and regulatory definitions. The Act defines an interchange as “those areas and their

approaches where traffic is channeled off or onto an interstate route. . . .” *Id.* § 72-7-502(9). By definition, an interchange does not include acceleration or deceleration lanes. *Id.*

The Act does not define acceleration or deceleration lanes. By regulation, however, acceleration and deceleration lanes are defined as “speed change lanes created for the purpose of enabling a vehicle to increase or decrease its speed to merge into, or out of, traffic on the main-traveled way.” UTAH ADMIN. R. 933-2-3(2). Under Rule 933-2-3(2), an acceleration or deceleration lane “begins and ends at a point no closer than 500 feet from the nearest point of the beginning or ending of pavement widening at the exit from or entrance to the main-traveled way.” *Id.*

In 1997, the Utah Legislature amended the Outdoor Advertising Act to include definitions for both “point of widening” and “main-traveled way.” Under those amendments, the “point of widening” is defined as “the point of the gore or the point where the intersecting lane begins to parallel the other lanes of traffic” UTAH CODE ANN. § 72-7-502(19). Under section 72-7-502(19), the point of widening may “never be more than 2,640 feet from the center line of the intersecting highway or the interchange or intersection at grade.” *Id.* The main-traveled way is defined as the “through traffic lanes, including auxiliary lanes, acceleration lanes, deceleration lanes, and feeder systems, exclusive of frontage roads and ramps.” *Id.* § 72-7-502(12).

In 1978, YESCO lawfully erected an outdoor advertising sign on leased property located north and east of the since-constructed intersection of Antelope Drive and I-15 in Clearfield, Utah. [R30, 37, 53] In 2002, the landowner requested that YESCO move its sign to the northernmost boundary of its property to accommodate the landowner's development plans. [R32, 39, 51, 52] UDOT refused YESCO's request for a permit on the ground that the proposed location for the relocated sign violated section 72-7-505(3)(c)(i). [R75-77]

YESCO challenged UDOT's decision in district court. In that action, UDOT argued that the "point of pavement widening" set out in section 72-7-505(3)(c)(i) should be determined without reference to the "point of widening" defined by section 72-7-502(19) and that, under section 72-7-505(3)(c)(i), the relevant point of pavement widening did not occur until the traffic lane allowing traffic to move northward from Antelope Drive to I-15 fully merged into I-15. [R64-67]

Relying on the definitional language of section 72-7-502(19) and the regulatory definition of an acceleration lane, YESCO argued that the point of widening intended by section 72-7-505(3)(c)(i) occurred at the point where the pavement of I-15 widened to meet the traffic lane from Antelope Drive as it turned northward and began to parallel the three northbound lanes of I-15. Five hundred feet past that point, the on-ramp of the traffic lane became an acceleration lane, as defined by Rule 933-2-3(2). Because an interchange, by definition, does not include an acceleration lane, the 500-foot no-sign zone mandated by section

72-7-505(3)(c)(i) continued for 500 feet past the commencement of the acceleration lane, or 1,000 feet north of the point of widening identified by YESCO. YESCO's proposed Sign would be located in excess of 800 feet past the no-sign zone, and UDOT wrongfully refused to issue the permit. [R40-47]

The district court upheld UDOT's decision. In reaching its conclusion, the district court recognized that it could not ignore the definition of point of widening stated in section 72-7-502(19), as urged by UDOT. The district court determined that section 72-7-502(19) identified two possible points of widening, (a) the "point of the gore," in the case where there is no acceleration lane or (b) the point where the intersecting lane begins to parallel the other lanes of traffic, where there is an acceleration lane. Failing to address or recognize the existence of the acceleration lane, and borrowing a definition of gore taken from a National Traffic Safety Administrative website cited by neither party, the district court determined that the point of the gore in this case occurred where the traffic lane from Antelope Drive fully merged into I-15, the same location identified by UDOT. Because YESCO's proposed Sign would be located within 500 feet of that point, the district court concluded that the proposed site would violate section 72-7-505(3)(c)(i). [R163-171]

While the district court properly recognized the application of section 72-7-502(19)'s definition of point of widening, it ignored that portion of the definition which provides that the point of widening "may never be greater than 2,640 feet from the center line of the intersecting highway of the interchange or

intersection at grade.” The point of the gore identified by the district court, and by UDOT, is located in excess of 2,900 feet north of the center line of Antelope Drive and I-15. That point, by statutory definition, falls outside the interchange because it exceeds the 2,640-foot limitation mandated by section 72-7-502(19). The point of widening identified by the district court therefore cannot stand. Because the district court measured the no-sign zone from its erroneous point of widening, it improperly upheld UDOT’s decision refusing YESCO’s permit request.

The only viable point of widening that falls within the 2,640-foot limitation is that argued by YESCO. It occurs at the point where the traffic lane turns and begins to parallel the three northbound lanes of I-15, a point well within the 2,640 foot-limitation set out in section 72-7-502(19). Under Rule 933-2-3(2), the acceleration lane begins 500 feet past that point. Because an interchange cannot, by definition, include acceleration lanes, the interchange ends where the acceleration lane begins. Section 72-7-505(3)(c)(i) prohibits outdoor advertising signs within 500 feet of the interchange. Thus, the no-sign zone ends 500 feet past the point where the acceleration lane begins, or 1,000 feet past the point of widening identified by YESCO. Because YESCO’s proposed sign would be located in excess of 800 feet past the end of the no-sign zone, the district court should have ordered UDOT to issue the permit.

ARGUMENT

Outdoor advertising in Utah is subject to the provisions of the Outdoor Advertising Act, UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 72-7-501 to 516 (LexisNexis 2001 and

Supp. 2003) (the “Act” or the “Outdoor Advertising Act”). Among other things, the purpose of the Act

. . . is to provide the statutory basis for the regulation of outdoor advertising consistent with zoning principles and standards and the public policy of this state in providing public safety, health, welfare, convenience and enjoyment of public travel, to protect the public investment in highways, to preserve the natural scenic beauty of lands bordering on highways, and to ensure that outdoor advertising shall be continued as a standardized medium of communication throughout the state so that it is preserved and can continue to provide general information in the specific interest of the traveling public safely and effectively.

(2) It is the purpose of this part to provide a statutory basis for the reasonable regulation of outdoor advertising consistent with the customary use, zoning principles and standards, the protection of private property rights, and the public policy relating to areas adjacent to the interstate, federal aid primary highway existing as of June 1, 1991, and the national highway systems highways.

Id. § 72-7-501(1) & (2).

Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-504 generally prohibits the erection or maintenance of an outdoor advertising sign that is “capable of being read or comprehended from any place on the main-traveled way of an interstate or primary system” except where specifically allowed by the Act. Among other exceptions, the Act allows the erection or maintenance of an outdoor advertising sign “located in a commercial or industrial area” or “in unzoned industrial or commercial areas as determined from actual land uses.” UTAH CODE ANN. § 72-7-504(1)(d) & (e) (LexisNexis Supp. 2003). The parties do not dispute that the proposed Sign would be located in a commercial or industrial area. [R6, 21]

While outdoor advertising signs may be erected in a commercial or industrial area, a sign may not be located within 500 feet of an interchange. UTAH CODE ANN. § 72-7-505(3)(c)(i). The district court held that YESCO's proposed sign location violated that 500-foot restriction. The district court's decision is wrong because it misapplied and/or ignored definitions critical to determining the outside boundaries of the interchange.

I. YESCO'S PROPOSED SIGN LOCATION IS LOCATED IN EXCESS OF 500 FEET FROM THE ANTELOPE DRIVE/I-15 NORTHBOUND INTERCHANGE.

The essential facts are not in dispute. Subsequent to YESCO's lawful erection of its original sign in 1978, UDOT constructed an interchange to allow the movement of traffic between I-15 and Antelope Drive. [R30, 31, 37, 38, 53] As part of the interchange, UDOT constructed an on-ramp allowing traffic from Antelope Drive to access the northbound lanes of I-15 (the "Antelope Drive/I-15 Northbound Interchange"). [R38, 54]

An aerial photograph of the Antelope Drive/I-15 Northbound Interchange is found in the Addendum at Tab C. [See also R54] As the aerial photograph shows, the traffic lane that allows traffic to transition from Antelope Drive to the northbound lanes of I-15 (the "Traffic Lane") initially curves northward from Antelope Drive toward the three northbound interstate lanes. At the end or bottom of the curve or ramp, the Traffic Lane straightens and begins to run parallel to the three northbound lanes of I-15. While the Traffic Lane from Antelope Drive and the three northbound lanes of I-15 initially are separated by unpaved ground, at or

near the end of the curve or ramp, the pavement for I-15 widens where it meets the pavement from the Traffic Lane, creating a solid field of pavement covering the three northbound lanes of I-15 and the Traffic Lane that flows from Antelope Drive. [R33, 39, 54, 192 (pp. 8-9)] The point at which this occurs is marked on the aerial photograph as the “point of widening.” [R54; *see also* Addendum, Tab C] From this point forward, the Traffic Lane continues to run parallel to the three northbound lanes of I-15, gradually merging into the easternmost, or outside, lane of I-15. [R33, 39-40, 54; *see also* Addendum, Tab C]

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