2004

Young Electric Sign Company, Inc. v. Utah Department of Transportation: Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

On August 15, 2002, Region One of the Utah Department of Transportation denied YESCO a permit to relocate a billboard. A UDOT Hearing Officer and the district court upheld this decision. The basis was that the proposed location was 108 feet from the point of pavement widening at the entrance to the main-traveled way.

UDOT maintains that this ramp area is part of the interchange in that it channels traffic onto I-15. YESCO contends that this area is not part of the interchange. There is

no dispute that state law and the Utah-Federal Agreement concerning outdoor advertising prohibit the construction of billboards within 500 feet of an interchange. The narrow issue in this appeal is whether the proposed location is within the prohibited area.

This Court should uphold the determination of the court below because YESCO's proposed billboard location is less than 500 feet from the Antelope Drive/I-15 interchange as measured "along the interstate highway or freeway from the sign to the nearest point of the beginning or ending of pavement widening at the exit from or entrance to the main-traveled way." Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-505(3)(c)(i)(A). Specifically, the court below was correct when it held that the "point of beginning or ending of pavement widening," which defines the boundaries of the interchange, is the "point at which the 'on-ramp dies into the freeway.'" [R166 (Ruling on Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and Ruling on Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment)] In arriving at its conclusion, the court was also correct in rejecting YESCO's proffered interpretations of "interchange," "point of widening," "acceleration and deceleration lanes."

ARGUMENT

INTRODUCTION

In 1965, Congress passed the Highway Beautification Act (the "HBA") to control "the erection and maintenance of outdoor advertising signs" in areas adjacent to the interstate highway system. 23 U.S.C. § 131(a). The HBA requires states to exercise "effective control" over the erection and maintenance of outdoor advertising signs or

forfeit ten percent of their federal highway funding. 23 U.S.C. § 131(b). Effective control is exercised under the HBA and its accompanying regulations through separate agreements between the Secretary of Transportation and each of the states, defining the size, lighting, and spacing requirements that govern outdoor advertising signs within that state. 23 U.S.C. § 131(d); 23 C.F.R. § 750.705.

Following passage of the HBA, Utah manifested its intention to comply with the federal requirements in order to maintain its highway funding by executing the Utah-Federal Agreement (the “Agreement”). The Utah Legislature ratified the Agreement in the Outdoor Advertising Act (the “Act”), Utah Code Ann. §§ 72-7-501 to -516 (West 2004), which incorporated many of the Agreement’s provisions verbatim, including the standard for measuring interchanges. See Utah Code Ann. §§ 72-7-501(3) and -505(3)(c)(i)(A) (West 2004); see also Utah Admin. R933-5-2 (West 2004).

The Utah Outdoor Advertising Act provides “a statutory basis for the reasonable regulation of outdoor advertising” in “areas adjacent to the interstate, federal aid primary highway, and the national highway systems highways.” Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-501(2) (West 2004). Subject to certain exceptions, the Act prohibits the erection of outdoor advertising signs that are “capable of being read or comprehended from any place on the main-traveled way of an interstate or primary system.” Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-504 (West 2004). Signs that may be allowed by one of the exceptions, such as signs within commercial or industrial areas, are still prohibited if they are located within 500 feet of an interchange. Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-505(3)(c)(i)(A) (West 2004). In the instant case, the

district court applied the appropriate measurement standard according to its plain language and properly held that the proposed location for YESCO's sign falls within that prohibition.

I. YESCO'S PROPOSED SIGN LOCATION IS LESS THAN 500 FEET FROM THE ANTELOPE DRIVE/I-15 INTERCHANGE.

Utah Code § 72-7-505(3)(c)(i)(A) states that "signs may not be located on an interstate highway or limited access highway on the primary system within 500 feet of an interchange . . . measured along the interstate highway or freeway from the sign to the nearest point of beginning or ending of the pavement widening at the exit from or entrance to the main-traveled way." Id. (emphasis added); see also Utah-Federal Agreement, Section III.A.2.(b) (using same measurement standard). Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-502(9) defines an "interchange or intersection" as "those areas and approaches where traffic is channeled off or onto an interstate route, excluding the deceleration lanes, acceleration lanes, or feeder systems, from or to another federal, state, county, city, or other route."

The proposed site is within 500 feet of the point of pavement widening for the entrance ramp to I-15 northbound. More precisely, the requested new location is only 108 feet from the point of pavement widening. [R65; see also Addendum A hereto] Therefore, it does not meet the spacing requirement of Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-505. As YESCO's representative conceded in his deposition:

Q. (by Mr. Burns): So the point of pavement widening in this instance is

less than 500 feet, right?

A. (by Mr. Short): Yes.

[R65]. This was the conclusion of the district court in the proceedings below and was the principal basis for upholding UDOT's denial of the requested permit.

The beginning or ending of pavement widening marks the boundary of the interchange. Utah Code Ann § 72-7-505(3)(c)(i)(A). It is UDOT's position that some interchanges, like the I-15/Antelope Drive interchange, do not include acceleration and deceleration lanes as part of their configuration. See Utah Admin. Code R. 933-2-3(2). This position is based on the fact that on-ramps and acceleration lanes are not synonymous. If they were, the Legislature's exclusion of acceleration lanes would effectively eliminate all control over billboard spacing near and within interchanges. There would be no "effective control" of outdoor advertising within the meaning of the Highway Beautification Act or its implementing regulations. See 23 C.F.R. § 750.705.

The primary distinction between UDOT's recent decision in Application of ROA General, Inc. dba Reagan Outdoor Advertising, UDOT File No. 03-03-001 (not a part of the record, but attached as Exhibit E to Appellant's Brief) and the instant case is that the BJBD matter involved a statutorily-excluded deceleration lane and the on-ramp in this case did not. See Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-502(9). It has been UDOT's position that there is no statutorily excluded acceleration or deceleration lane in the area that is the subject of this appeal.

Apparently recognizing its failed attempt to argue to the district court that the

terms “on-ramp” and “acceleration lane” were synonymous (R128, 150), YESCO now asserts that UDOT’s position incorrectly relies on an interpretation of an “auxiliary lane” that it argues is inconsistent with the traffic code (Utah Code, Title 41). Br. Aplt. at 23-24. Nowhere in the court below did UDOT make this argument. It certainly does not need to rely on it here.

As stated above, UDOT’s position is based on the fact that there are no statutorily-excluded acceleration or deceleration lanes in this area. There is no dispute that the pavement physically widens at a specific point to accommodate this on-ramp, within 108 feet of the proposed sign site. YESCO’s counsel conceded this fact in the court below. [R128, 150] That is the “point of pavement widening” referenced in the Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-505(3)(c)(i)(A) and the Utah-Federal Agreement. That is the measurement standard that the district court correctly applied.

Relying on the measurement method prescribed by Section 72-7-505, the district court correctly determined that the distance from the proposed sign to the nearest point of beginning or ending of pavement widening was less than 500 feet. [R76, 89-90] YESCO does not contest this measurement, but argues that UDOT should have disregarded the point of pavement widening because it was beyond “2,640 feet from the centerline of the intersecting highway.” Br. Aplt. at 20. This argument fails to give meaning to the term pavement as that term is used to define the boundaries of an interchange. The district court correctly interpreted these requirements in the only way that gives meaning to the statute as a whole, and upheld UDOT’s measurement from the sign to the point where the

pavement widens to allow traffic to merge with the interstate. [R170]

II. THE POINT OF PAVEMENT WIDENING

A. The district court's interpretation of state law was accurate.

YESCO's argument on appeal is founded on the premise that the statutorily defined "point of widening" in Section 72-7-502(19), is synonymous with the "point of the beginning or ending of pavement widening" in Section 72-7-505(3)(c)(i)(A). This premise is not supported by the Act.

When interpreting statutory language, a court looks "first to the plain language of the statute . . . assum[ing] that each term in the statute was used advisedly; thus the statutory words are read literally, unless such a reading is unreasonably confused or inoperable." State v. Bluff, 2002 UT 66, ¶ 34, 52 P.3d 1210 (citing Harmon City, Inc. v. Nielsen & Senior, 907 P.2d 1162, 1167 (Utah 1995)). Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-505(3)(c)(i)(A) sets the demarcation points for what is referred to by Appellant as the "sign-free zone." The boundaries of this area are set by the places where the main-traveled way physically widens to accommodate an on-ramp or off-ramp, plus 500 feet. [R166-168] This "point of pavement widening" is then used by UDOT permit officers to determine whether a proposed sign is within 500 feet of the interchange. [R88-91] YESCO argues that the court should ignore the demarcation point in this area and instead use either "the point of the gore or the point where the intersecting lane begins to parallel the other lanes of traffic." Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-502(19).

YESCO's suggested interpretation of the "point of widening" and "interchange" conflicts with the measurement standard set forth in the Utah-Federal Agreement. The Agreement makes no reference to the point of the gore² as being an appropriate basis to set the demarcation points for the sign-free zone - it refers to the "point of pavement widening." Instead of determining that these provisions of state law conflicted with the Utah-Federal Agreement, the court below harmonized the "point of the gore" in the only way that would not create a conflict with the measurement standard in Section III.A.2.(b) of the Agreement (as codified in Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-505(3)(c)(i)(A)).

In the court's words: "The 'point of the gore' in this instance is the point at which the on-ramp tapers to an end on I-15, or in other words, where it completely merges with I-15 . . . the point at which the 'on-ramp dies into the freeway.'" [R165]. This was a reasonable interpretation by the district court, as it construes the Outdoor Advertising Act in a way that does not conflict with the Utah Federal Agreement. For those reasons, this Court should uphold its conclusion.

B. Federal law prohibits the movement of this billboard to a new location.

The district court's conclusion is also supported by federal law, which states that the location of non-conforming signs may not be changed. See 23 C.F.R. § 750.707 (a non-conforming sign "may be sold, leased, or otherwise transferred without affecting its

²The word "gore" does not appear in the Utah-Federal Agreement. Similarly, there is no 2,640 foot limitation regarding the location of the "point of pavement widening." Compare Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-502(19) with Utah-Federal Agreement Section III, A.2.(b), as adopted in Utah Admin. Code R 933-5-2.

status, but its location may not be changed. A nonconforming sign removed as a result of a right-of-way taking or for any other reason may be relocated to a conforming area but cannot be reestablished at a new location as a nonconforming use.") (emphasis added). Simply put, a non-conforming sign must "remain substantially the same" as it was on the effective date of the State law or regulations that established the state's outdoor advertising laws. 23 C.F.R. § 750.707(d)(3) and (5); see also 23 C.F.R. § 750.704(b) (signs in 23 § C.F.R. 750.704(a)(4) must comply with spacing requirements of the Agreement between the State and the Secretary of Transportation) and 23 C.F.R. § 750.704(d) (signs not permitted under 23 C.F.R. § 750.704 must be removed).

C. UDOT's administrative rules prohibit non-conforming signs from being relocated or repositioned.

As noted above, YESCO's original sign had a "non-conforming" status because, if proposed under current regulations, it would not be allowed.³ Under UDOT's administrative rules, signs with a non-conforming status may not be relocated or repositioned. The rules reflect the federal policy described above that a non-conforming sign may continue to exist in its original location, as long as the structure is not moved.

Utah Admin. Code R933-2-5 states:

³ 23 C.F.R. § 750.707(b) states: "A nonconforming sign is a sign which was lawfully erected but does not comply with the provisions of State law or State regulations passed at a later date or later fails to comply with State law or State regulations due to changed conditions. Changed conditions include, for example, signs lawfully in existence in commercial areas which at a later date become noncommercial, or signs lawfully erected on a secondary highway later classified as a primary highway." See also Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-510 (West 2004).

(1) Sign changes or repairs, including those for signs in a commercial or industrial zone, are subject to the following requirements:

....

(b) A nonconforming sign with "Grandfather Status" may not be relocated, structurally altered, nor repositioned, including reversing the direction of the sign face.

Id. (emphasis added). YESCO's application proposed to do precisely what is prohibited by the rule - move the sign to a new location. See also Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-504(4) (West 2004) ("Outdoor advertising under Subsections (1)(a), (d), (e), and (f) shall conform to the rules made by the department under Sections 72-7-506 and 72-7-507.").

Relying on UDOT Admin. Rule R933-2-3(2), YESCO argues that the area in question is an excluded "acceleration lane" that is not part of the interchange. This interpretation is based on a misreading of the rule, which plainly states that "an acceleration lane begins and ends at a point no closer than 500 feet from the nearest point of . . . ending of pavement widening at the . . . entrance to the main-traveled way." Id. (emphasis added).

One important fact remains undisputed – the entrance to the main-traveled way in this area (i.e., the on-ramp) merges with the interstate. This is not a situation where the entrance to the main-traveled way eventually becomes an exit. That unique situation, which is not present in this case, is the circumstance that the definition of acceleration and deceleration lane addresses. See Addendum C.

III. THE UTAH-FEDERAL AGREEMENT SUPERSEDES ANY CONFLICTING PROVISIONS IN THE UTAH CODE.

The Utah-Federal Agreement indicates Utah's commitment to "implement and carry out the provisions of [the Highway Beautification Act] . . . in order to remain eligible to receive the full amount of all federal-aid highway funds to be apportioned to such state." Utah Admin. Code R933-5-2 (West 2004). It also establishes the standards by which the state regulates billboards. Id. As interpreted by district court, the Agreement and the Act are consistent with one another and with federal law, but it is important to note that Utah law contemplates the possibility that portions of the Outdoor Advertising Act may be found to conflict with the Utah-Federal Agreement. See Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-515(2) (West 2004) ("The provisions of this part are subject to and shall be superseded by conflicting provisions of the Utah-Federal Agreement."). Where a conflict exists, the offending provision is superseded by the Agreement. Id.

In this case, Appellant's interpretation of the Outdoor Advertising Act, which allows a sign to be located on an interstate highway or freeway within 500 feet of the nearest point of beginning or ending of pavement widening at the entrance to or exit from the main-traveled way, creates a conflict with the measurement standard set forth in the Utah-Federal Agreement. Therefore, to the extent that Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-502(9) (definition of "interchange"), Section 72-7-502(19) (definition of "point of widening") or Utah Admin. Code R. 933-2-3(2) (definition of "acceleration and deceleration lanes") allows the construction of billboards in this area, the conflicting provision is superseded

by the Agreement, as required by Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-515(2). Simply put, YESCO's interpretation of the Utah Code conflicts with the interchange measurement standard set forth in the Utah-Federal Agreement and should be rejected by this court.

CONCLUSION

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